STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

APR 6 2015

The Honorable George C. James Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2014-002027

Steven L. Hewitt,Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA L. THOMAS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100777

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Is certiorari warranted to review the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel ineffective for eliciting testimony about a prior molestation accusation where the record supports a conclusion this testimony was part of trial counsel's trial strategy and where a curative instruction sufficiently cured any prejudice from the testimony?
2. Is certiorari warranted to review the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel ineffective for eliciting testimony from a witness about whether she believed the victim where the record supports a conclusion this testimony was part of trial counsel's trial strategy and where this testimony was not repeated to the jury?
3. Is certiorari warranted to review the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to elicit testimony from a witness that the victim recanted where the record supports the conclusion trial counsel made a strategic decision to not pursue this issue and where the testimony, if presented, would not have changed the outcome of the trial?
4. Is certiorari warranted to review the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to impeach the victim with a prior conviction where the trial judge already forbade trial counsel from exploring this avenue of impeachment and where trial counsel presented this information to the jury through other testimony from the victim?
5. Is certiorari warranted to review the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel ineffective for eliciting testimony about the identity of the perpetrator where the record supports a conclusion this testimony was part of trial counsel's trial strategy and where the testimony was otherwise admissible?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2009, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act on a minor. (App. pp. 288-89; p. 291-92). Verdell Bar, Esquire (“trial counsel”) represented Respondent.¹ (App. p. 1). On May 24, 2010, Respondent proceeded to trial before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury. (App. p. 1). On May 26, 2010, the jury found Respondent guilty as indicted. (App. p. 277, lines 18-25). Judge John sentenced Respondent to concurrent terms of imprisonment for twenty-five years for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and fifteen years for lewd act on a minor. (App. p. 290; p. 293).

LaNelle C. DuRant, Esquire, perfected Respondent’s direct appeal. State v. Hewitt, Op. No. 2012-UP-117 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 29, 2012). The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Respondent’s convictions on February 29, 2012. Id.

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief on August 14, 2012. (App. p. 294). The Honorable George C. James Jr. (“the post-conviction relief judge”) convened an evidentiary hearing on the application at the Georgetown County Courthouse on March 21, 2014. (App. p. 313). Respondent was present and represented by Tristan M. Shaffer, Esquire. (App. p. 28). The post-conviction relief judge granted relief in an order dated June 26, 2014, and filed July 11, 2014. (App. p. 388). The post-conviction relief judge denied Petitioner’s motion for reconsideration by order dated July 21, 2014, and filed August 13, 2014. (App. p. 407) This Petition for a Writ of Certiorari follows.

¹ Trial counsel passed away prior to the evidentiary hearing in this case.

ARGUMENT

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). The post-conviction relief judge in this case unconstitutionally placed the burden on Petitioner to disprove Respondent's allegations that trial counsel's actions were not supported by a valid trial strategy. However, Petitioner was unable to meet this burden because trial counsel is deceased and unable to answer for his actions, and the post-conviction relief judge granted a new trial to an inmate who testified he would lie to get out of prison. (App. p. 362, lines 16-18). Because the trial record contains evidence of trial counsel's strategy, the post-conviction relief judge's findings are not supported by probative evidence in the record. See Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 348, 495 S.E.2d 768, 769 (1998) ("[I]f there is no probative evidence to support the PCR judge's findings, the findings will not be upheld." (citations omitted)). Because the post-conviction relief judge substituted his hindsight judgment for that of trial counsel's at the time of trial, he applied an incorrect legal standard of review. See Talley v. State, 371 S.C. 535, 540, 640 S.E.2d 878, 880 (2007) ("The Court will reverse the PCR judge's decision when it is controlled by an error of law." (citations omitted)). Therefore, certiorari is warranted in this case to correct the post-conviction relief judge's failure to "indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance[.]" Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984).

I. The post-conviction relief judge erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for eliciting testimony about a prior molestation accusation.

Trial counsel presented Respondent's sister as a witness in Respondent's defense. During her testimony, the sister testified to a prior accusation levied against Respondent by the victim's mother regarding their other child. (App. p. 186, line 15-p, 187, line 2). The solicitor later attempted to introduce evidence Respondent had attempted to intimidate a witness to testify the victim's mother persuaded the victim to make the current allegation, as she had with their other child. (App. p. 215, line 11-p. 216, line 23). Judge John took umbrage at this line of questioning, and issued a curative instruction to the jury to disregard the testimony regarding the witness intimidation and the prior accusation. (App. p. 226, line 3-p. 229, line 14). The post-conviction relief judge found trial counsel's strategy of "attempting to establish that [Respondent's] estranged wife had prompted a report of a false molestation charges with regard to the daughter and that, therefor, the wife was behind a false report of charges with regard to the instant victim" was a "risky strategy[,] had "no substance[,] and was not properly implemented. (App. p. 391). However, whether the post-conviction relief judge personally approved of trial counsel's strategy is not the appropriate standard of review.

Initially, Petitioner submits the post-conviction relief judge erred in finding trial counsel's strategy was not valid. "[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable[.]" Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690; see also Meyer v. Branker, 506 F.3d 358, 374 (4th Cir. 2007) ("[L]egal judgments based on thorough investigation are virtually unassailable on collateral review."). Here, the record demonstrates trial counsel discussed the prior allegations with Respondent's sister before calling her as a witness. (App. p. 355, lines 5-10; p. 356,

lines 12-20). Furthermore, in his arguments prior to Judge John's *sua sponte* decision to strike the sister's testimony, trial counsel indicated his trial strategy was to implicate the victim's mother was at fault in bringing the accusations. (App. p. 222, lines 1-22). Finally, trial counsel argued, as best he could with Judge John's limitation, to the jury that someone else encouraged the victim to bring these allegations against Respondent. (App. p. 245, lines 21-25). Thus, the record clearly indicates trial counsel's strategy was to blame the victim's accusation on the victim's mother. The fact trial counsel could not testify at the hearing as to his decision making process does not automatically invalidate a strategic reason that is apparent from the record. See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290, 297 (2010) (upholding lower court decision that a trial strategy was reasonable where a "silent record created a presumption that counsel exercised sound professional judgment"); see also Greiner v. Wells, 417 F.3d 305, 326 (2d Cir. 2005) (inmate must present more than an attorney's "inability to remember his reasons for conducting the trial in the manner that he did" to overcome "the presumption of constitutionally effective counsel sustained by the record"). As the record demonstrates trial counsel formulated this strategy after discussing the prior accusation with witnesses, the post-conviction relief judge had no authority to second-guess the propriety of the strategy simply because it was "risky." See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 ("It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable." (citing Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107 (1982))).

Furthermore, the post-conviction relief judge's reliance on Respondent's testimony that the victim's mother's subversive acts "kind of cooled down five years prior to the trial" is disingenuous. This reliance conveniently ignores the testimony of Respondent's sister that Respondent and the victim's mother were "feuding" over the last two years. (App. p. 185, lines 5-11). It also conveniently ignores the evidence in the record that the victim's mother attempted to have Respondent's bond revoked based on allegedly false accusations. (App. p. 222, lines 14-19). Instead of reviewing trial counsel's strategy "from counsel's perspective at the time[,]" Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, the post-conviction relief judge improperly cherry-picked portions of the record that supported his post hoc trivialization of trial counsel's actions.

The post-conviction relief judge also erred in determining trial counsel never discussed this trial strategy with Respondent. Initially, Petitioner submits the determination of what strategy to pursue was trial counsel's to make, not Respondent's. See Abney v. State, 408 S.C. 41, 48, 757 S.E.2d 544, 547 (Ct. App. 2014) (Piepher, J., concurring) (discussing decisions primarily involving trial strategy and tactics that are left to counsel's discretion), cert. denied (Jan. 15, 2015). Furthermore, the record does not support a determination Respondent was not aware of this strategy. At trial, the solicitor was prepared to offer evidence Respondent attempted to intimidate a witness to testify the victim's mother was involved in the allegations. Respondent's trial testimony and evidentiary hearing testimony that he did not want to blame the victim's mother is in direct contravention to his actions prior to trial. The post-conviction relief judge did not consider the possibility Respondent knew of this strategy, but repudiated it once the State learned of his efforts to intimidate a witness.

The record clearly demonstrates trial counsel employed a strategy to place blame on the accusation on the victim's mother. However, Judge John *sua sponte* prevented trial counsel from pursuing this strategy by issuing an instruction for the jury to disregard testimony about the victim's mother instigating a prior accusation. The fact Judge John prevented counsel from pursuing his strategy does not mandate a finding the strategy was unreasonable. See Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (an attorney cannot be deficient for not being "prepared for 'any contingency[,]'" an attorney need not be a "flawless strategist or tactician[,]") and an attorney cannot be faulted for a "reasonable miscalculation or lack of foresight"). In light of the record before the post-conviction relief judge, his characterization of trial counsel's strategy of implicating the victim's mother as "conceivable" and "supposed" (App. p. 391) is not supported by the evidence in the record and should be reversed. Furthermore, the post-conviction relief judge's substitution of his hindsight judgment of the reasonableness of trial counsel's strategy is a misapplication of the Strickland standard of deferential review and should be reversed.

Furthermore, even if this Court agrees trial counsel's strategy was unreasonable, Judge John's *sua sponte* instruction to disregard the testimony about the prior accusation eliminates any prejudice from the testimony. The post-conviction relief judge erred in concluding Judge John's curative instruction was insufficient. (App. p. 394). This Court has consistently held that "a curative instruction to disregard the testimony is deemed to have cured any alleged error" in the admission of incompetent evidence. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 216, 692 S.E.2d 490, 498 (2009) (citations omitted). Petitioner's research only uncovered two cases where this Court found a curative instruction insufficient to ameliorate the prejudice of otherwise inadmissible evidence. In State v.

Britt, 235 S.C. 395, 426, 111 S.E.2d 669, 685 (1959), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991), this Court found a curative instruction did not cure the prejudice from testimony the defendant was guilty of previous crimes and refused to take a lie detector test. In State v. Reid, 324 S.C. 74, 77, 476 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1996), overruled on other grounds by State v. Watson, 349 S.C. 372, 563 S.E.2d 336 (2002), this Court found a curative instruction to disregard testimony the defendant did not show remorse when arrested was insufficient because it was given at the end of trial and did not specifically address the improper testimony.

The post-conviction relief judge's finding the instruction here was insufficient is inapposite to the cases where this Court has previously found instructions insufficient. Unlike Britt, the testimony regarding the previous allegations against Respondent was likely helpful to Respondent's case because it indicated he was innocent of the previous crimes. Unlike the instruction in Reid, Judge John's instruction came soon after the testimony was introduced and included a polling of each juror to determine if they would disregard the comments. Under the facts of this case, the admission of testimony indicating Respondent was previously wrongfully accused of a similar crime was not so prejudicial it could not be cured by the instruction. Furthermore, the post-conviction relief judge engaged in wild conjecture in speculating Judge John would likely have declared a mistrial had the solicitor elicited the same testimony. The more likely scenario is Judge John would have issued the exact same curative instruction he issued when trial counsel elicited the testimony. In light of the thoroughness of the instruction, the post-

conviction relief judge erred in finding this was one of those particular cases where the instruction was insufficient to cure any prejudice from the testimony.²

II. The post-conviction relief judge erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for eliciting testimony from a witness about whether she believed the victim.

The State presented Patricia Brown to corroborate the timing of the victim's disclosure. (App. p. 91, lines 17-25). In cross-examination, trial counsel asked Brown why she waited so long to inform authorities about the victim's disclosure. (App. p. 97, line 2-p. 98, line 5). Trial counsel then asked Brown if she did not report the disclosure to authorities because she did not believe the victim. (App. p. 98, lines 6-11). Trial counsel argued to the jury in closing that Brown did not report the disclosure because she did not believe the victim. (App. p. 246, lines 7-11). The post-conviction relief judge found trial counsel had no valid trial strategy for asking Brown about whether she believed the victim. (App. p. 396). Again, the post-conviction relief judge erred by ignoring the clear evidence of trial strategy in the record and substituting his own hindsight judgment to discredit that strategy.

The post-conviction relief judge relied on this Court's line of precedent holding a witness cannot vouch for the credibility of another witness. See, e.g., Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 568, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010). However, the mere fact the testimony was otherwise inadmissible does not preclude the possibility trial counsel had a strategic

² The post-conviction relief judge's reliance on dicta from this Court's opinion in State v. Warren, 341 S.C. 349, 351, 534 S.E.2d 687, 688 (2000), that the inmate there "may be entitled to relief in a collateral proceeding" based on similar actions by his attorney, is disingenuous and unfounded. Although the post-conviction relief judge may have found the dicta "interesting to note[,]'" (App. p. 393), reliance upon it had no place in the analysis of the particularized facts of this case. Petitioner notes Mr. Warren did not receive collateral relief on this issue, but instead voluntarily withdrew his application for post-conviction relief. Order of Dismissal at 1, Warren v. State, No. 2000-CP-18-816 (Dorchester Cnty. Ct. Com. Pl. filed July 29, 2003).

reason to elicit the testimony. See Janosky v. St. Amand, 594 F.3d 39, 48 (1st Cir. 2010) (no ineffective assistance of counsel where a decision to elicit otherwise inadmissible hearsay testimony “was part of a calculated trial strategy aimed at poking holes in” the state’s case); Figueroa v. Heath, No. 10-CV-0121 JFB, 2011 WL 1838781, at *16 (E.D.N.Y. May 13, 2011) (no ineffective assistance of counsel where “[t]he trial record demonstrates that counsel’s decision [...] was part of a strategy designed not only to show that the prosecution engaged in improper Rosario violations, but also to undermine the police’s credibility by highlighting their failure to turn over relevant evidence to the defense.”); Krist v. Foltz, 804 F.2d 944, 947 (6th Cir. 1986) (no ineffective assistance of counsel for eliciting otherwise inadmissible evidence).

The record clearly indicates trial counsel’s strategy was to implicate the victim’s story was unbelievable based, in part, on the fact Brown delayed in reporting the disclosure to authorities. Trial counsel attempted to confront Brown with her delayed reporting in cross-examination, and asked the jury to presume the delay was because the victim’s story was unbelievable. Considering the only viable trial strategy in this case was to discredit the victim, this line of questioning was reasonable. The post-conviction relief judge again erred in finding trial counsel did not have a strategic reason for asking this question where the record demonstrates a strategy existed. Wood, 558 U.S. at 297; Greiner, 417 F.3d at 326; see also Janosky, 594 F.3d at 48 (“When, as in this case, counsel’s decision to elicit potentially damaging testimony is part of a *plausible* trial strategy, that decision does not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness.” (citations omitted) (emphasis added)).

The post-conviction relief judge also erred in determining Brown's testimony irreparably prejudiced Respondent. In Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 569, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010), this Court found the testimony of a forensic interviewer prejudiced the inmate where "[t]he State relied heavily on the forensic interviewer's testimony to overcome inconsistencies in the Victim's testimony." Here, the solicitor's discussion of Brown's testimony in the closing was limited to rebutting trial counsel's argument Brown was dismissive of the victim's disclosure. (App. p. 257, line 2-p. 258, line 17). The solicitor did not attempt to use the imprimatur of Brown's belief of the victim's story to bolster the victim's credibility. Furthermore, there was not "a great deal of conflicting testimony from virtually every State and defense witness[.]" Smith, 386 S.C. at 569, 689 S.E.2d at 633, regarding the victim's disclosure. Instead, the time and place corroboration testimony from the witnesses was consistent in this case. Based on the entire record, the post-conviction relief judge erred in finding trial counsel's strategy of exploring this line of questions prejudiced Respondent.

III. The post-conviction relief judge erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to elicit testimony from a witness that the victim recanted his allegations.

Respondent's sister testified at the evidentiary hearing that the victim told her the accusations against Respondent were false. (App. p. 354, lines 19-23; p. 358, line 16-p. 359, line 2). The post-conviction relief judge concluded evidence of the victim's recantation was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement and that trial counsel "was simply not aware of or had misinterpreted the relevant hearsay rules" in failing to ask Respondent's sister about the victim's statement. (App. p. 397). Again, the post-conviction relief judge made an assertion about trial counsel's strategy from a silent

record, and failed to indulge the presumption trial counsel had a strategic reason for not pursuing this avenue of questioning. Wood, 558 U.S. at 297; Greiner, 417 F.3d at 326.

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