ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 24 2015

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Georgetown County
George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

STEVEN L. HEWITT JR.,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002027

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

³ Petitioner argued the PCR judge failed to consider "the fact trial counsel might have chosen to not further argue with Judge John." Cert. pet. at 14. It is hard to conceive of a more egregious example of misconduct for a trial attorney to know of a proper legal theory to argue to ensure evidence is admitted or that the argument is preserved for appeal and yet fail to present the argument based upon some desire "to not further argue with" the trial judge. Further, the trial transcript revealed Judge John was receptive to any and all arguments by the parties before him and did not limit them in any way. There would have been no reason for trial counsel not to advance a winning argument.

law permits the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence when the opposing party opens the door to that evidence. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 632, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004); State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 415-416, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004); State v. Dunlap, 353 S.C. 539, 541, 579 S.E.2d 318, 319 (2003); State v. Taylor, 333 S.C. 159, 175, 508 S.E.2d 870, 878 (1998); State v. Major, 301 S.C. 181, 391 S.E.2d 235 (1990); State v. Doby, 273 S.C. 704, 710, 258 S.E.2d 896, 899-900 (1979); State v. Adcock, 194 S.C. 234, 234, 9 S.E.2d 730, 732 (1940); State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 663 S.E.2d 357 (Ct. App. 2008). In State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984), our Supreme Court explained that opening the door occurs “[w]here one party introduces evidence as to a particular fact or transaction,” which entitles the other party “to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even though [the] latter evidence would be incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.”

The prosecutor asked numerous questions relating to victim “acting out.” The solicitor even brought out that victim had been getting into trouble and that he had tried smoking pot, allegedly to handle the abuse he suffered. During the testimony of Hope Smith, Brown, McGrogan, and victim, the solicitor engaged in lengthy discussions of victim’s mental health, including his behavior, his scholastic performance, his diagnoses for ADHD and PTSD, and how victim was coping with the abuse he allegedly suffered. Without question, these discussions opened the door for Respondent to question victim about his prior criminal conduct as it was part and parcel of the behavior he was allegedly exhibiting.

Petitioner put forward no argument to support his contention that the PCR judge “also erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to argue the state opened the door to the admission of the conviction.” Cert. pet. at 15. “South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not

presented for review.” Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001). In light of the state’s abandonment of this issue, this ground becomes the law of the case. See Atlantic Coast Builders & Contractors, L.L.C. v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012); Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). This Court should deny certiorari because Petitioner failed to appeal this alternative ruling by abandoning it through the failure to present case law or argument, and therefore, it is the law of the case that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to argue the state opened the door to the admission of victim’s prior charges.

The evidence of victim’s prior charges occurring around the time he made his “disclosures” of alleged sexual abuse and the disposition of those charges before the trial was necessary to combat the solicitor’s argument to the jury asking why would victim lie or fabricate the allegations of abuse. Repeatedly, the prosecutor told the jury that victim did not have a motive to lie about the allegations. Repeatedly, the prosecutor told the jury that victim’s “acting out” was the product of him handling the abuse he allegedly suffered. Had the jury known of the evidence of victim’s drug use and involvement with law enforcement around the time that he made the allegations, the jury could have answered those questions in a way helpful to Respondent. Victim’s prior criminal record supported an argument that victim was claiming to have been abused in order to get out of trouble – very serious trouble. This would have been a clear motive to fabricate the story of alleged abuse. Further, victim’s prior criminal record supported an argument that victim’s mental health diagnoses and his “acting out” were not the result of childhood sexual abuse, but were the result of a rebellious teenager.

V. The record supports the PCR court’s finding that trial counsel was ineffective for eliciting testimony about the identity of the perpetrator from two witnesses who counseled victim concerning the alleged sexual assaults where the testimony exceeded the time and place exception to the rule against hearsay.

Relevant facts

Trial facts

As mentioned, the only evidence against Respondent was the testimony of the alleged victim, who claimed Respondent abused him nine years before the trial, six years before he first disclosed the abuse, and seven years before he disclosed the abuse to law enforcement. The state used the testimony of the individuals to whom he “disclosed” to buttress its case – calling the testimony regarding the “disclosures” corroborative of victim’s allegations. One of those individuals was Patricia Brown, the school-based counselor. On direct examination, Brown explained that victim disclosed to her that something happened to him as a child when he was around age seven. App. 91, ll. 17-25. The solicitor was careful to ensure Brown did not testify to “exactly everything that he disclosed.” App. 91, ll. 17-19. Brown merely told the jury that victim said “something had occurred to him” at “[a]ge seven.” App. 94, l. 24 – App. 95, l. 2. Frankly, the solicitor’s line of questioning did not even relate to the jury that victim disclosed being sexually abused; rather, the questions were simply that “something had occurred” or “something that happened.”

Despite the solicitor’s narrow line of questioning, trial counsel asked questions on cross-examination that elicited testimony regarding whom the victim claimed was his abuser. Specifically, trial counsel asked Brown why she did not report the allegation of abuse in February 2008 when she learned of it. Brown responded, “Well at the time victim was, father wasn’t in the home with him and he was just telling me what was going on with him.” App. 97, ll. 7-14. Thus, Brown’s testimony on cross-examination revealed the identity of the alleged perpetrator. Further,

this question allowed the solicitor to emphasize the testimony in re-direct. The solicitor remarked that Brown was not required to report the allegation to law enforcement unless she felt victim was “going home to a dangerous situation.” Brown agreed and reiterated: “And that’s why I say his father wasn’t in the home with him at the time.” App. 100, ll. 5-12.

A similar colloquy transpired with the state’s “expert” in “sexual abuse trauma,” Kathy McGrogan. On direct examination, the solicitor asked if victim had disclosed to her “a time and place of a particular event that had occurred in his childhood” that she found to be significant. App. 158, ll. 12-15. McGrogan responded that victim told her “that a traumatic event had occurred ... when he was around age seven to eight and that it occurred at his grandmother’s house.” App. 158, ll. 16-18. On cross-examination, trial counsel asked why McGrogan waited from April until August of 2008 to inform victim’s mother of the allegations of abuse. McGrogan responded that victim told her that Respondent “was in jail” and that victim believed “father was in jail for that reason and it turned out that wasn’t the reason.” In other words, McGrogan believed the abuse had been reported and that Respondent had been arrested as a result. App. 168, l. 17 – App. 169, l. 17.

In her closing argument, the solicitor told the jury about the rules governing hearsay in criminal sexual conduct trials:

The law restricts the state from being able to put in hearsay evidence about what victim specifically told her and there’s a reason for that. We want to make sure in fairness to the defendant that all the evidence about exactly what happened comes out through the child. That’s a big burden on that child but we accepted that. So each one of the witnesses who he disclosed to they’re not supposed to tell you what he said. They can tell you the timing and the place that it occurred and each one of you, of them that got up and said what they were allowed to say told you, including Hope Smith, that it happened when he was around seven years old at his Grandma Reddick’s house.

App. 254, l. 24 – App. 255, l. 13. Further, the solicitor reminded the jury that McGrogan told them “an interesting fact. She said I thought he was already in jail for this and it had been adjudicated, he

being the defendant.” App. 259, ll. 22-24. The solicitor also argued the counselors – McGrogan and Brown – had no duty to report the allegations “unless they felt like a child is in danger or going home to a perpetrator.” App. 260, ll. 8-10.

Order granting relief

The PCR judge found that while “it was likely apparent to the jury that the victim told these witnesses that [Respondent] was the perpetrator, case law and Rule 801(d)(1)(D) clearly stand for the proposition that corroborating witnesses may only testify as to time and place factors, and may not testify that the victim identified the defendant as the perpetrator.” App. 400. The PCR court found that “McGrogan directly implicated [Respondent] as the perpetrator named by the victim.” App. 400. Further, the PCR court found “[t]here was no trial strategy that could have been furthered” by trial counsel eliciting this testimony or asking the judge to strike the testimony from the record. Thus, the PCR court granted relief. Additionally, the PCR court stated “[c]oupled with the other errors noted herein, the failure to object to this evidence was prejudicial to [Respondent].” App. 401.

Discussion

All criminal defendants are entitled to a fair trial. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 14. The Rules of Evidence are designed to ensure a fair trial occurs. One of the most important Rules of Evidence concerns the rule against hearsay; however, many exceptions to hearsay exist. A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial, is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is “consistent with the declarant’s testimony in a criminal sexual conduct case ... where the declarant is the alleged victim and the statement is limited to the time and place of the incident.” SCRE 801(d)(1)(D). This Court made clear the necessity of the statement remaining limited to time and place of the alleged incident. Jolly v. State,

314 S.C. 17, 20, 443 S.E.2d 566, 568 (1994). If the statement goes beyond time and place, then it is hearsay and in order to be admissible, it must fall within one of the exceptions to the general rule against hearsay. State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 497, 492 S.E.2d 408, 412 (Ct. App. 1997)(citing Rule 802, SCORE).

In Jolly, 314 S.C. at 19, 443 S.E.2d at 568, this Court found trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to testimony by an uncle that the alleged child victim told the uncle that Jolly had abused her. Trial counsel had objected to a social worker testifying that the alleged victim made a prior statement that Jolly had abused her, but failed to object to the uncle's testimony. Id. On direct appeal, Jolly challenged the trial judge's decision to allow the social worker to testify to the hearsay statement. No decision was made as to the error of the ruling because no objection had been made to the uncle's testimony making the social worker's testimony cumulative to the uncle's testimony and the alleged victim's testimony. Id. This Court reiterated the rule that in criminal sexual conduct cases, evidence from other witnesses that the alleged victim complained of a sexual assault is admissible in corroboration limited to the time and place of the assault and excluding details or particulars. Id. at 20, 443 S.E.2d at 568. This Court went on to hold that "[i]mproper corroboration testimony that is *merely cumulative to the victim's testimony*, however, cannot be harmless, because it is precisely this cumulative effect which enhances the devastating impact of improper corroboration." Id. at 21, 443 S.E.2d at 569 (emphasis in original). Thus, this Court held that had the uncle's testimony been properly objected, the appellate court would not have held the social worker's testimony was harmless and the outcome of the direct appeal would have been different. Id.

The testimony by Brown and McGrogan, which was improperly elicited by trial counsel, went beyond time and place because the witnesses indicated victim identified Respondent as his

perpetrator. The testimony was clearly inadmissible as hearsay and did not fall into any of the recognized exceptions. The state's argument that trial counsel elicited the testimony as part of a strategy to show the excuse for not reporting the disclosure was not believable and is undermined by the record. The reason for not reporting the disclosure necessarily required identification of Respondent as the perpetrator and was believable. Further, the reason for not reporting the disclosure revealed to the jury that Respondent was in jail on other charges; thereby implicating him in other crimes. There was simply no strategy helpful to Respondent that could have been furthered by eliciting this testimony. See Sanchez, 351 S.C. at 276, 569 S.E.2d at 366 (2002)(holding trial counsel's reason for not objecting to an officer's hearsay testimony of the alleged assault on a child victim, which was that the testimony would help show the allegations were vague, was unreasonable because the hearsay corroborated the victim's testimony); Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 560 S.E.2d 401 (2002)(finding trial counsel ineffective for eliciting and failing to object to hearsay testimony by an expert witness and a police officer identifying Ingle as the perpetrator).

Petitioner's argument that "the state could have easily elicited testimony about the particulars of victim's disclosure because Respondent's defense was that the victim fabricated the allegation" is misleading and misconstrues the case law cited to support the proposition. In State v. Jeffcoat, 350 S.C. 392, 396, 565 S.E.2d 321, 323 (Ct. App. 2002), the Court of Appeals held the witnesses were permitted to go beyond the time and place limitation because the prior consistent statement was being offered to rebut an express or implied charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE. Although Respondent's position was that the abuse never occurred and by implication victim must be fabricating his story, Respondent did not allege "recent fabrication or improper influence or motive" as the Rule

requires. Instead, Respondent's theory was that victim had made up the story from the very beginning – not recently.

Trial counsel's questioning of Brown and McGrogan was particularly harmful in light of the very limited testimony elicited by the solicitor during her direct examination of these witnesses. The solicitor's colloquy with the witnesses merely revealed that victim had disclosed that "something had occurred" or "something that happened." While it would not take too great of a leap for the jurors to conclude that "something" referred to the sexual abuse as testified to by victim, the jurors received no direct evidence from Brown and McGrogan that victim had indeed disclosed sexual abuse instead of some other form of trauma. By eliciting this testimony from Brown and McGrogan, trial counsel buttressed the state's case and gave further credibility to victim's claims of sexual abuse. This is the exact opposite of what a defense attorney is supposed to do. Clearly, as the PCR judge found, trial counsel's conduct fell below professional norms and was prejudicial to Respondent.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the petition for writ of certiorari.